
Cabinet 
1 June 2022 
  

 

 

Time and venue: 
 
1.00 pm in the Court Room at Eastbourne Town Hall, Grove Road, BN21 4UG 
 
Membership: 
 
Councillor David Tutt (Chair); Councillors Stephen Holt (Deputy-Chair) 
Margaret Bannister, Alan Shuttleworth, Colin Swansborough and Rebecca Whippy 
 
Quorum: 3 

Published: Tuesday, 24 May 2022 
 

Agenda 
 
1 Minutes of the meeting held on 21 March 2022  (Pages 5 - 8) 

 
2 Apologies for absence   

 
3 Declaration of members' interests   

 
4 Questions by members of the public   
 

 On matters not already included on the agenda and for which prior notice has 
been given (total time allowed 15 minutes).   
 

5 Urgent items of business   
 

 The Chairman to notify the Cabinet of any items of urgent business to be added 
to the agenda. 
 

6 Right to address the meeting/order of business   
 

 The Chairman to report any requests received to address the Cabinet from a 
member of the public or from a Councillor in respect of an item listed below and to 
invite the Cabinet to consider taking such items at the commencement of the 
meeting. 
 

7 Waste and recycling services - fleet  (Pages 9 - 40) 
 

 Report of Director of Service Delivery 
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Colin Swansborough 
 
(This report contains an exempt appendix. Any discussion of this must take place 
at item 9 following exclusion of the public.) 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

8 Exclusion of the public   
 

 The Chief Executive considers that discussion of the following items is likely to 
disclose exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972 and may therefore need to take place in private session.  The exempt 
information reasons are shown beneath the items listed below.  Furthermore, in 
relation to paragraph 10 of Schedule 12A, it is considered that the public interest 
in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information. (The requisite notices having been given under regulation 5 of the 
Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012.) 
 
(Note: Exempt papers are printed on pink paper). 
 

9 Waste and recycling services - fleet - Exempt Appendix 4  (Pages 41 - 48) 
 

 Report of Director of Service Delivery 
Lead Cabinet member: Councillor Colin Swansborough 
 
Exempt information reasons 3 – Information relating to the financial and business 
affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
 

 

Information for the public 

Accessibility:   

Please note that the venue for this meeting is wheelchair accessible and has an induction 
loop to help people who are hearing impaired. This agenda and accompanying reports are 
published on the Council’s website in PDF format which means you can use the “read out 
loud” facility of Adobe Acrobat Reader. 

Filming/Recording:  

This meeting may be filmed, recorded or broadcast by any person or organisation. Anyone 
wishing to film or record must notify the Chair prior to the start of the meeting. Members of 
the public attending the meeting are deemed to have consented to be filmed or recorded, 
as liability for this is not within the Council’s control. 

Public participation:  

Please contact Democratic Services (see end of agenda) for the relevant deadlines for 
registering to speak on a matter which is listed on the agenda if applicable. 

Information for Councillors 

Disclosure of interests:   

Members should declare their interest in a matter at the beginning of the meeting.  
 
In the case of a disclosable pecuniary interest (DPI), if the interest is not registered (nor 
the subject of a pending notification) details of the nature of the interest must be reported 



to the meeting by the member and subsequently notified in writing to the Monitoring Officer 
within 28 days. 

If a member has a DPI or other prejudicial interest he/she must leave the room when the 
matter is being considered (unless he/she has obtained a dispensation). 
Councillor right of address:  

Councillors wishing to address the meeting who are not members of the committee must 
notify the Chairman and Democratic Services in advance (and no later than immediately 
prior to the start of the meeting). 

Democratic Services 
For any further queries regarding this agenda or notification of apologies please contact 
Democratic Services. 

Email: committees@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk   

Telephone: 01323 410000 

Council website: https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/ 
 

Modern.gov app available: View upcoming public committee documents on your device.  
Free modern.gov  iPad app or Android app or Microsoft app . 

mailto:committees@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/
https://apps.apple.com/gb/app/modern-gov/id1453414073
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en
https://www.microsoft.com/en-gb/p/moderngov/9pfpjqcvz8nl?activetab=pivot:overviewtab


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
Cabinet 

 
Minutes of meeting held in Court Room at Eastbourne Town Hall, Grove Road, 
BN21 4UG on 21 March 2022 at 6.00 pm. 
 
Present: 
 

Councillor David Tutt (Chair). 
 

Councillors Stephen Holt (Deputy-Chair), Margaret Bannister, Alan Shuttleworth and 
Colin Swansborough. 
 
Officers in attendance:  
 

Robert Cottrill (Chief Executive), Ian Fitzpatrick (Deputy Chief Executive and Director of 
Regeneration and Planning), Tim Whelan (Director of Service Delivery), Becky Cooke 
(Assistant Director for Human Resources and Transformation), Ola Owolabi (Deputy 
Chief Finance Officer (Corporate Finance)), Simon Russell (Head of Democratic 
Services) and Kate Slattery (Solicitor). 
 
Also in attendance: 
Councillor Penny di Cara (Opposition Deputy Leader) and Councillor Robert Smart 
(Opposition Leader). 
  
51 Minutes of the meeting held on 9 February 2022 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 9 February 2022 were submitted and 
approved and the Chair was authorised to sign them as a correct record. 
 

52 Apologies for absence 
 
An apology for absence was reported from Councillor Whippy. 
 

53 Declaration of members' interests 
 
Councillor Holt declared a personal interest in agenda item 7 (Corporate 
performance – quarter 3 – 2021/22) as his employer, Your Eastbourne BID 
also monitored the data contained in key performance indicator 11. He 
remained in the room and voted on the item. 
 

54 Corporate performance - quarter 3 - 2021/22 
 
The Cabinet considered the report of the Chief Finance Officer and Deputy 
Chief Executive/Director of Regeneration of Planning, updating members on 
the Council’s performance against Corporate Plan priority actions, performance 
indicators and targets for the third quarter of the year 2021/22. 
  
Commentary on those performance indicators that were currently below target 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



Cabinet 2 21 March 2022 

was detailed in the report. The Director of Service Delivery reported that since 
collection of quarter 3 data, the current average call response time was 49 
seconds. The Council had also gone live with its new online chatbot 
functionality, and that had already received over 3000 enquiries. 
 
Highlights for the quarter included average days to process new claims/change 
of circumstances for housing/council tax benefits and sign ups to Council social 
media channels. Thanks were conveyed to staff for their performance during 
this quarter. 
 
Part B of the report detailed the Council’s financial performance for the same 
quarter. 
  
Visiting member, Councillor Smart, addressed the Cabinet on this item. In 
response to comments made, Councillor Holt advised that the Director of 
Service Delivery had agreed to forward a breakdown of the £1.6 million 
variance for Service Delivery at the end of December 2021, following the 
meeting. 
 
Resolved (Non-key decision): 
 
(1) To note the achievements and progress against Corporate Plan priorities 
for 2021-22, as set out in Part A of the report. 
 
(2) To note the General Fund, HRA and Collection Fund financial performance 
for the quarter, as set out in Part B of the report. 
 
Reason for decisions: 
 
To enable Cabinet members to consider specific aspects of the Council’s 
progress and performance. 
 

55 Local Connection Eligibility Self-build and Custom Housebuilding 
Register 
 
The Cabinet considered the report of the Deputy Chief Executive and Director 
of Regeneration and Planning, seeking its approval to include Local 
Connection Eligibility on the Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Register. 
 
Resolved (Non-key decision): 
 
(1) To authorise the incorporation of a Local Connection Eligibility Test on the 
Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Register. 
 
(2) To authorise the start of a re-registering process for all individuals and 
associations currently on the Register. 
 
Reason for decisions: 
 
(1) The proposal to implement a Local Connection Test to the Self-build and 

Page 6



Cabinet 3 21 March 2022 

Custom Housebuilding Register is important in informing the emerging EBC 
Local Plan. 
 
(2) The proposal would meet the requirements of the Self-build and Custom 
Housebuilding Act 2015 (as amended by the Housing and Planning Act 2016) 
and subsequent Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Regulations 2016. 
 

The meeting ended at 6.20 pm 

 
Councillor David Tutt (Chair) 
  

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to: Cabinet 
 

Date: 1 June 2022 
 

Title: Waste and recycling services - fleet 
 

Report of: Tim Whelan, Director of Service Delivery 
 

Cabinet member: 
 

Councillor Colin Swansborough, Cabinet Member for 
Climate Change, Place Services and Special Projects 
 

Ward(s): 
 

All 

Purpose of report: 
 

The purpose of this report is to introduce and seek approval 
for the replacement strategy for the waste and recycling 
fleet to circa 2035. This is against a backdrop of new and 
emerging technologies; alternative fuels and energy 
vectors; ageing vehicles and Eastbourne Carbon Neutral 
2030. 
 

 
Decision type: 
 

Key 

Officer 
recommendation(s): 

 
That Cabinet approves the plans presented: 
 
(1) To upgrade the refuse and recycling collection vehicle 
(RCV) fleet from April 2023 with re-purposed vehicles, 
subject to approval by Full Council. 
 
(2) To use renewable diesel as an alternative to regular 
diesel from April 2023, subject to due diligence. 
 
(3) To procure an electric vehicle fleet for food waste 
collections from 2025 and subject to government New 
Burdens Funding support and depot upgrade, subject to a 
further report to Cabinet and Full Council supported by a 
business case. 
 
(4) To install charging infrastructure at Courtlands Road 
depot to support the EV fleet (as part of an associated work 
stream subject to separate approvals).  
 
(5) To secure ultra-low emission vehicles for the RCV fleet 
and street cleansing by 2030, to align with the council’s 
carbon neutral target, subject to a further report to Cabinet 
and Full Council supported by a business case. 
 
 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 7



Reasons for 
recommendations: 
 

Recommendations to Cabinet for waste recycling and street 
cleansing vehicle procurement required from 2023, with 
associated adaptations at the depot to support ambitions to 
decarbonise the fleet by 2030. 
 

Contact Officer(s): Name: Seán Towey 
Post title: Head of Environment First 
E-mail: sean.towey@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk 
Telephone number: M: 07506 026412 
 
 
Name: Jane Goodall 
Post title: Environment Lead  
E-mail: jane.goodall@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk 
Telephone number: 07788515359 
 
 
 

 

1  Introduction 
 

1.1  The waste service fleet provides vehicles for functions such as refuse and 
recycling, garden waste, trade and clinical waste collections, street cleansing 
and bulky item collections. This report considers the replacement strategy for the 
diesel-fuelled collections and street cleansing fleet. 
 

1.2  The collections and street cleansing fleet accounts for approximately 30% of the 
council’s carbon emissions profile. 
 

1.3  The purpose of this report is to outline the replacement pathway for the waste 
and recycling fleet to circa 2035. The detail is presented in the report at 
Appendix 1 ‘Vehicle Replacement Strategy, May 2022’ and the tables at 
Appendix 2 affording more intel in respect of predicted capital costs and 
fuel/carbon savings. This is against a backdrop of new and emerging 
technologies; fuels and energy vectors; ageing vehicles; and the council’s 
carbon neutral 2030 ambition for the town. 
 

1.4  The immediate priority is to upgrade the current fleet at Courtlands Road depot 
from where the Eastbourne waste service operates. Industry standard 
replacement schedules for these collection vehicles are a 7–10-year cycle and 
most of our vehicles are at the end of economic life. It is business critical to 
secure a fit for purpose fleet to be in-situ for SEESL operations from April 2023 
that will see us through for the next 5 or 6 years, ahead of the council’s carbon 
neutral 2030 milestone. 
 

2  Proposal 
 

2.1  The proposal is a hybrid of conventional diesel/renewable diesel for the RCV 
fleet in 2023/24 and electric vehicles (EVs) for food waste collections (2025) 
(see Appendix 1, section ‘Bridging the Gap’). 

Page 10

mailto:Sean.towey@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:jane.goodall@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk


2.2  As new technologies and alternative fuel options become economically viable, 
alongside the provision of a depot infrastructure that can support them, the 
service will switch to ultra-low emission vehicles for the RCV fleet and street 
cleansing before 2030, to align with the council’s carbon neutral target. 
 

2.3  There will be associated work at the depot to provide appropriate infrastructure 
and facilities, although this is a separate project managed by the Commercial 
Business and Development team.  
 

3  Outcome expected and performance management 
 

3.1  The adoption of this vehicle replacement strategy will support EBC’s carbon 
neutral 2030 ambition, using renewable diesel (subject to due diligence) to 
reduce carbon emissions in the interim before moving to a fully ultra-low 
emission fleet. There will be expected carbon savings of up to 90% on 
conventional diesel tailpipe emissions and this will be monitored on a delivery by 
delivery basis as the exact factor may vary with each consignment. 
 

3.2  Proposals for a food waste collection fleet are aligned with indications within the 
Environment Act 2021 that weekly food waste collections will become mandatory 
from 2025. Secondary legislation detailing implementation dates and 
requirements alongside provision of New Burdens Funding is awaited. 
 

3.3  A new fleet, alongside an improved depot, will positively impact on staff morale 
at Courtlands Road. 
 

4  Consultation 
 

4.1  Key staff are engaged with the vehicle replacement strategy. 
 

4.2  These plans have been shared with the SEESL Board of Directors and the views 
and suggestions from those discussions are reflected in this report and the 
documents appended. A letter from the Chair of SEESL to Cabinet is included at 
Appendix 3. 
 

4.3  There have also been extensive consultations with suppliers and discussions 
with other local authorities for best outcomes on fleet and fuel. 
 

5  Corporate plan and council policies  
 

5.1  The vision for the entire fleet is set out in ‘Eastbourne Carbon Neutral 2030 - A 
plan for action’ where we state we will decarbonise the fleet to save 
approximately 800 tonnes of CO2e per year.  

This informs the vehicle replacement pathway proposed in this report. 
 

5.2  The aim of the vehicle replacement strategy is to achieve an ultra-low emission 
fleet by 2030. 
 

5.3  The intention is to use renewable diesel in the interim period. Manufactured from 
100% renewable and sustainable waste products renewable diesel is a paraffinic 

Page 11



drop-in fuel that can be used as a replacement for diesel, meeting EN15940 
(British specification) standards. It is made using waste fats and oils (typically 
these are used vegetable-based cooking oils but it may also contain animal 
processing waste products). Unlike conventional biodiesel, hydrogen (rather 
than methanol) is used as a catalyst, which makes renewable diesel cleaner 
burning and ensures a long shelf life 
 

6  Business case and alternative option(s) considered 

6.1  While ultra-low emission solutions are developing at a rapid pace, there are 
significant advantages in delaying decisions on new vehicle types (i.e. EV or 
hydrogen fuel cell) until the market stabilises. EBC/SEESL can position itself to 
procure the best fit vehicles from 2024/25 - 2028/29 as the market matures, 
prices normalise, and the most appropriate fuel or energy sources are in place 
locally. 
 

6.2  Given current uncertainty re: ‘consistent collections’ (Environment Act 2021) with 
secondary legislation yet to be issued, there is further good reason to delay 
making decisions on the choice of RCV. 
 

6.3  In the interim period, 2023/24 – 2029/30, SEESL will rely on renewable diesel for 
the diesel fleet so long as that is deemed securely available, financially viable 
and environmentally sustainable, in order to reduce emissions.  
 

6.4  This report seeks to ensure adequate financial provision is made in capital 
allocations for waste service vehicles for the period 2023 to 2030 against a 
range of complex and inter-connecting circumstances. 
 

6.5  At Appendix 1 options are presented with associated costs for the immediate 
term: to upgrade, purchase or lease vehicles. The recommendation is to re-use 
and upgrade the current SEESL fleet from April 2023. 
 

6.6  There will be revenue implications for a) switching from conventional to 
renewable diesel and b) installing chargers at Courtlands Road. To support the 
food EV fleet from 2025, UKPN have informed us that there is low voltage cable 
within the curtilage of the depot and that connection of 10no. 7kW chargers 
would be up to £10k.  
 

6.7  A decision on the new RCV and street cleansing fleet for 2028/29, type to be 
determined, will be based on the market position and local infrastructure at the 
time. Rapid charging for electric RCV’s is being investigated but will incur much 
higher connection costs that are yet to be confirmed. 
 

7  Financial appraisal 
 

7.1  The current Capital Investment Programme for the Council does not include a 
provision to upgrade the refuse/recycling collection vehicle (RCV) fleet from April 
2023 with re-purposed vehicles, to procure an electric vehicle fleet for food 
waste collections from 2025, and street cleansing from 2028/29, which will be 
subject to government New Burdens Funding support and depot upgrade. 
 

Page 12



An option appraisal has been undertaken for all of the proposed vehicle 
acquisitions comparing two acquisitions options. The capital outlay might need 
to be funded either through the realignment of existing capital programme 
resources, exploring potential Government subsidies, and/or borrowing from the 
PWLB, which is the cheapest option for all of the proposed vehicle acquisitions. 
The Council will be able to borrow at a lower interest rate than what might be 
offered by the leasing companies.  The wider financial implications will need to 
be incorporated into the overall Council’s revenue budget and capital 
programme to ensure that the long-term financial implications are monitored 
accordingly.   
 
The proposed vehicle replacement financial analysis is attached as Appendix 4 
(exempt report) detailing the vehicles identified for replacement and the 
associated costs. Further updates will be provided to the Cabinet during the 
formal annual budget setting process and as further costs and savings 
efficiencies are identified as a result of any future acquisitions.  
 
 

8  Legal implications 
 

8.1  Any procurement undertaken following approval of officer recommendations in 
this report must comply with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules, including 
(where applicable) the Public Contract Regulations 2015. 
 
Lawyer input date: 09.05.22        “Legal ref 011062-EBC-OD” 

 
9  Risk management implications 

 
9.1  Headline risks include: 

 The condition of the current fleet is declining due to age 

 Delays in the decision-making process  
– delays in the above impacting on speed of executing tender process 
– delays in the above impacting on placing our orders 

 Missing “slots” on the successful supplier(s) fleet production line 

 Supply of alternative fuels (renewable diesel) against the ongoing conflict in 
Ukraine 

 Cost of alternative fuel (renewable diesel) 

 Potential cost of ULE RCV fleet 

 Viability of EV Infrastructure at Courtlands Depot 

 Viability of Hydrogen supply via Newhaven Hub or skid at Courtlands Depot 
 

9.2  The vehicle replacement strategy is designed to mitigate these risks. Officers 
are engaging with industry and researching options to secure the best fit for EBC 
now and in the future. 
 

9.3  New vehicle technologies are rapidly developing, primarily in the form of electric 
powered vehicles. Hydrogen vehicles, i.e. fuel cell electric vehicles (FCEVs) 
powered by hydrogen, are now available (2 are operational in this country, see 
Appendix 1) but limited at present by hydrogen production and the infrastructure 
that is required to supply and deliver it. Making timely decisions to meet the 

Page 13



immediate requirements of the service while predicting future needs and 
available options is a speculative exercise.  
 

9.4  We have engaged current and potential suppliers for the earliest opportunity to 
trial new fleet specifications (electric vehicles, hydrogen vehicles and renewable 
diesel), for all our service areas (refuse, recycling and food waste collections, 
street cleansing fleet including mechanical sweepers).  This will be on an on-
going basis as technology develops, thereby affording us peace of mind that our 
business decision in respect of associated procurement is sound, informed and 
timely.  Through this active approach, we anticipate encouraging these same 
suppliers to maintain pace on the evolution of the optimum solution. 
 

9.5  In the context of limited resources and emerging technologies which may be 
effective but often initially expensive, the route to decarbonisation of the waste 
fleet is a significant challenge.  
 

10  Equality analysis 
 

10.1  Air quality in Eastbourne: a co-benefit of this plan will be a reduction in 
emissions in the town, which will improve air quality and contribute to better 
health outcomes for the local community. 
 

10.2  Staff will be given appropriate training on utilising new equipment. 
 

11  Environmental sustainability implications 
 

11.1  There is a carbon benefit to re-using and upgrading the current SEESL fleet to 
extend its life until the point where purchasing new ultra-low emission RCVs is 
more feasible – noting that, based on the current data available, approximately 
5-8% of an HGV’s whole life carbon emissions can be attributed to production. 
 

11.2  Plans to purchase EVs for food waste and street sweepers align with the aim to 
reduce carbon emissions. As the council procures 100% renewable energy the 
tailpipe emissions for these vehicles will fall to zero immediately. 
 

11.3  Renewable diesel will be used as an alternative to conventional diesel over the 
next circa five years if readily available, financially viable and sustainably 
sourced, in order to reduce emissions and the impact of waste collections on air 
quality. This will see tailpipe carbon emissions reduced by up to 90% and 
indirect emissions from production should be reduced by a similar value. 
 

11.4  The ultimate goal of running ultra-low emission RCVs by 2029/30 will meet the 
council’s carbon neutral 2030 target. The carbon trajectory of SEESL operations 
is set out at Appendices 1 and 2. 
 

12  Appendices 
 

  Appendix 1 – vehicle replacement strategy 

 Appendix 2 – supporting tables on fleet, fuel and carbon cost 

 Appendix 3 – letter from Chair of SEESL Board to Cabinet 

 Appendix 4 – Financial review (EXEMPT) 

Page 14



 
 

13  Background papers 
 

 The background papers used in compiling this report were as follows:  
 

  None 
 

 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

Sean Towey, Head of Environment 

First 

Jane Goodall, Environment Lead 

Walter Ferguson, SEESL Service 

Manager  

Theresa Owen, Accountant 

Appendix 1 
Vehicle Replacement 

Strategy May 2022 

Page 17



 

Vehicle Replacement Strategy Appendix 1 

Version 1.11 - May 2022 

Page 1 

Contents 

 

Executive Summary .................................................................................................................................................................... 2 

Procurement Timelines .............................................................................................................................................................. 3 

Background ................................................................................................................................................................................ 3 

Current Collections Fleet ............................................................................................................................................................ 4 

Current Refuse Fleet .................................................................................................................................................................. 4 

Current Recycle Fleet ................................................................................................................................................................. 5 

Current Garden Fleet ................................................................................................................................................................. 6 

Future Food Waste Fleet ............................................................................................................................................................ 7 

Current Trade Collection Fleet ................................................................................................................................................... 7 

Fleet Options .............................................................................................................................................................................. 7 

Electric Vehicle (EV) Option........................................................................................................................................................ 8 

Hydrogen Vehicle Option ........................................................................................................................................................... 8 

Diesel Vehicle Alternative Fuel HVO Option .............................................................................................................................. 9 

Fuel Costs ................................................................................................................................................................................. 10 

Bridging the Gap – In order of our recommendation .............................................................................................................. 11 

Bridging the Gap Options ......................................................................................................................................................... 11 

Option 1 - Reuse of existing fleet – “Preferred” ...................................................................................................................... 11 

Option 2 - Brand New Fleet ...................................................................................................................................................... 11 

Option 3 - Leased Fleet ............................................................................................................................................................ 12 

Figures ...................................................................................................................................................................................... 12 

Capital Costs ............................................................................................................................................................................. 12 

Predicted Fuel Usage ................................................................................................................................................................ 12 

Predicted Fuel Costs Diesel ...................................................................................................................................................... 13 

Predicted Fuel Costs HVO ......................................................................................................................................................... 14 

Predicted Carbon Emissions Diesel .......................................................................................................................................... 14 

Predicted Carbon Emissions HVO ............................................................................................................................................. 15 

Summary .................................................................................................................................................................................. 15 

 

 

Abbreviations 

EBC – Eastbourne Borough Council  

SEESL – South East Environmental Services Limited 

HGV – Heavy Goods Vehicle 

RCV – Refuse/Recycling Collection Vehicle  

EV – Electric Vehicle 

HV – Hydrogen Vehicle 

HVO – Hydrotreated Vegetable Oil 

FAME – Fatty Acid Methyl Esters 

NOx – Nitric Oxide 

AWC – Alternate Weekly Collection 

Page 18



 

Vehicle Replacement Strategy Appendix 1 

Version 1.11 - May 2022 

Page 2 

Executive Summary 
 

The purpose of this report is to set out the replacement pathway for the waste and recycling fleet to circa  

2035, which is a mandatory service provided on behalf Eastbourne Borough Council. This is against a 

backdrop of new and emerging technologies, fuels and energy vectors, ageing vehicles, and the council’s 2030 

Carbon Neutral target.  

 

The immediate priority is to upgrade the current fleet at Courtlands Road Depot from where South East 

Environmental Services Limited (SEESL, Eastbourne Borough Councils Arms-Length waste company) operates. 

Industry standard replacement schedules for these collection vehicles are a 7–10-year cycle and many of our 

vehicles are nearing the end of their economic life. It is business critical to secure a fit for purpose fleet in-situ 
for SEESL by April 2024 that will see us through for 5 years, just ahead of the council’s net zero 2030 milestone. 

 

The requisite energy vector facilities will also need to be installed/provided in this interim period, either 

at the depot or in the vicinity, be that a charging infrastructure for EVs (Electric Vehicles, Page8) and/or HVs 

(Hydrogen Vehicles. Page 8/9) via the hydrogen hub in Newhaven. 

 

Due to both the marketplace and depot infrastructure not ready for the immediate transition to EV or HV, we 

have no option but to continue to consider the continued use of diesel as a fuel as well as a diesel substitute, 

most especially HVO (Hydrotreated Vegetable Oil, Page 9) which is not done lightly but from a position of no 

immediate alternative option. HVO is also referred to as renewable diesel. 

 

While ultra-low emission solutions are developing at a rapid pace, there are significant advantages in  

delaying decisions on new vehicle types while the market stabilises. The first version of electric RCVs 

(Refuse/Recycling Collection Vehicles) are beginning to be deployed at councils in London and other urban 

areas. The UK’s first fuel cell hydrogen waste truck was launched in Aberdeen in February 2022. 

 

The smaller fleet at SEESL, mainly streets collection vehicles and food collection vehicles, are suitable for the  

EV model, as range and charging capacity is not as restrictive as it is on the HGV fleet. It is recommended to  

invest in fully electric food waste vehicles in 2025 (in sync with the government mandate) once the depot has  

been modified followed by the streets fleet in 2029. 

 

SEESL can position itself to procure the best fit vehicles from 2029 when the market has matured, prices have 

normalised, and the most appropriate fuel or energy source is in place conscious of the unprecedented rise in 

the cost in fuel as well as the vulnerability in respect of guaranteed supply considering the ongoing conflict 

overseas. 

 

Our closing summary (Pg16) provides not only our recommendation in respect of the immediate procurement 

need, but also the headline opportunities as well as headline risks associated with our decision making. 
 

 

Page 19



 

Vehicle Replacement Strategy Appendix 1 

Version 1.11 - May 2022 

Page 3 

Procurement Timelines 
 

Below is a summary of the timeline in respect of fleet procurement, explained more fully within the report, in 

the lead up to the 2030 and 2035 carbon commitment milestones, offered in sympathy with fiscal challenges 

(hence the phased approach), evolving technologies (including alternative fuels) and DEFRAs mandate in 

respect of Food Waste collections, also conscious of the unknown impact of the Environment Bill. 

 

23/24 – Rebody of existing RCV collection fleet (using alternative diesel) 

25/26 – Food Waste (EV) and Mechanical Sweepers (EV) 

29/30 – RCV collection fleet and Street Cleansing Fleet (EV/HV) 

 

The above is based on Option 1 contained within the enclosed Appendix with fuller explanation contained 

within the narrative under “Bridging the Gap” Page11. 

 

Background 
 

The council fleet provides vehicles for specific job functions such as Refuse and Recycling collections, Garden 
Waste Collections, Trade Waste Collections, Clinical Waste Collections, Street Cleansing, Bulky Item 
Collections, Fly Tipping, and Workshop Maintenance.  
 
This report considers the replacement strategy for the collections fleet.  

 
The current fleet is primarily fueled with diesel. The vision for the entire council’s fleet is set out in 
‘Eastbourne Carbon Neutral 2030 - A plan for action’ where we state we will decarbonise our own fleet to 
save approximately 800 tonnes of CO2e per year. This informs the vehicle replacement pathway proposed in 
this report. 

 
New vehicle technologies are rapidly developing primarily in the form of electric powered vehicles. 
Hydrogen cell fueled vehicles are now available but limited at present by hydrogen production and the 
infrastructure that is required to supply it. 

 
In the context of limited resources and emerging technologies which may be effective but often initially 
expensive, the route to decarbonisation of the council fleet is a significant challenge.  

 
A further challenge is the requirement for new clean fuel infrastructures and working with the partner 
organisations will be central to ensure that the council fleet is ready to take advantage of new technologies. 

 
 

  

Page 20



 

Vehicle Replacement Strategy Appendix 1 

Version 1.11 - May 2022 

Page 4 

Current Collections Fleet 
 

Current Refuse Fleet 
The Refuse fleet consists of 9 vehicles and it is primarily HGV that fall under the remit of the Traffic Commissioner 

requiring O licences. The service schedules are every 6 weeks, and it is the most expensive fleet to maintain within 

the council, due to the workload on the vehicles each (like those in Recycling, Garden Waste and Trade below) working 

approx. 7hours daily, Monday to Friday (incl. Bank Holidays) plus additional days on Christmas and New Year Bank 

Holiday catch ups.  The average age of the Refuse fleet is 9 years, and the expected lifespan of a refuse vehicle is 10 

years, however we are confident we can “reuse” most if not all existing chassis, replacing their working bodies 
(rebody), so they remain roadworthy to pass annual tests up to the transformation to EV or HV fleet in 2029. 

 

Crew Reg Service Vehicle Size Reg Date Age Owned 

REF 1  GK13EOL Refuse 1 26t split lift 01/04/2013 9 Yes 

REF 2 GK13EOP Refuse 2 26t split lift 01/04/2013 9 Yes 

REF 3 GK13EOY Refuse 3 26t split lift 01/04/2013 9 Yes 

REF 4 GK13EOR Refuse 4 26t split lift 01/04/2013 9 Yes 

REF 5 GK13EOU Refuse 5 26t Euro Lift 01/04/2013 9 Yes 

REF 6 (SP) GK13EPA Refuse 6 (SP) 26t Split lift 01/04/2013 9 Yes 

REF 7 (NA) RK19ONC Refuse 7 (N/A) 16t split lift 31/05/2019 3 Yes 

REF Service GK13EOO Service Cover 26t split lift 01/04/2013 9 Yes 

REF Service GK13 EPL Service Cover 26t Split lift 01/04/2013 9 Yes 

 

26t Refuse Truck  

 

Page 21



 

Vehicle Replacement Strategy Appendix 1 

Version 1.11 - May 2022 

Page 5 

Current Recycle Fleet 
The Recycle fleet consists of 6 vehicles and are all HGV that fall under the remit of the Traffic Commissioner requiring 

O licences. The service schedules are every 6 weeks. The average age of the owned Recycle fleet is 9 years.  As with 

the refuse fleet, we are confident we can “reuse” most if not all existing chassis, replacing their working bodies 

(rebody), so they remain roadworthy to pass annual tests up to the transformation to EV or HV fleet in 2029. 

 

Crew Reg Service Vehicle Size Reg Date Age Owned 

REC 1 GK13EOV Recycle 26t split lift 01/04/2013 9 Yes 

REC 2 GK13EOX Recycle 26t split lift 01/04/2013 9 Yes 

REC 3 GK13EOM Recycle 26t split lift 01/04/2013 9 Yes 

REC 4 GK13EOZ Recycle 26t split lift 01/04/2013 9 Yes 

REC 5 (NA) RK19OMZ Recycle N/A 16t Split lift 03/05/2019 3 Yes 

REC Service GK13EOS Service Cover 26t split lift 01/04/2013 9 Yes 

 

 
26t Recycle Truck  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 22



 

Vehicle Replacement Strategy Appendix 1 

Version 1.11 - May 2022 

Page 6 

Current Garden Fleet 
The Garden fleet consists of 2 vehicles and are all HGV that fall under the remit of the Traffic Commissioner requiring 

O Licences. As with the Refuse and Recycle Fleet, servicing schedules are every 6 weeks.  Once again, we are confident, 

we can “reuse” the existing chassis, replacing their working bodies (rebody), so they remain roadworthy to pass annual 

tests up to the transformation to EV or HV fleet in 2029. 

 

Crew Reg Service Vehicle Size Reg Date Age Owned 

GAR 1 GK13EPD Garden 
26t split lift 01/04/2013 9 Yes 

GAR 2 GK13EPF  Garden 
26t split lift 01/04/2013 9 Yes 

 

 
26t Garden Waste Collection Vehicle 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 23



 

Vehicle Replacement Strategy Appendix 1 

Version 1.11 - May 2022 

Page 7 

Future Food Waste Fleet 

We anticipate that the Food Waste fleet will consist of 5 vehicles including 1 service cover vehicle and are all HGV that 

fall under the remit of the Traffic Commissioner requiring O Licences. As with the Refuse and Recycle Fleet, servicing 

schedules are every 6 weeks.  Our submission is based on an EV option. 

Crew Reg Service Vehicle Size Reg Date Age Owned 

FOOD 1 New Food 7.5t Tail Lift     Yes 

FOOD 2 New Food 7.5t Tail Lift     Yes 

FOOD 3 New Food 7.5t Tail Lift     Yes 

FOOD 4 New Food 7.5t Tail Lift     Yes 

FOOD Service New Service Cover 7.5t Tail Lift     Yes 

 

Current Trade Collection Fleet 
The Trade Collection service is presently undertaken by both the domestic Refuse and Recycling fleet, as this is the 

most efficient use of resources to service EBCs corporate properties with the trade element calculated using the 

governments WRAP formula (as is also the case in neighbouring Lewes District Council in respect of recycling 

collections).  Hence the recommendations for these fleet are already captured above. 

 

 
16t ‘Narrow Access’ collections vehicle for all commodities 

 

 

Fleet Options 
 

Page 24



 

Vehicle Replacement Strategy Appendix 1 

Version 1.11 - May 2022 

Page 8 

Electric Vehicle (EV) Option 
 
It is expected that new battery prices will fall 60% by 2030 (compared to 

2020), rapidly reducing electric vehicle costs. The use of dedicated 

manufacturing platforms for battery electric vehicles will allow vehicle 

manufacturers to reduce costs by up to 25% thanks to simpler assembly, the 

use of standard battery packs, and the savings from producing higher 

volumes of various BEV models on the same chassis. 

 

All of SEESL’s HGVs are diesel-powered. For SEESL to switch to electric, batteries will need to deliver the equivalent 

range and payload capacity of a conventional RCV. Even if battery developers make these evolutionary breakthroughs, 

it will also require the installation of large rapid charging points at the depot.  

 

The current EV RCV’s have a stated range of 90 miles from the manufacturer, however this is an empty vehicle with a 

speed limit of 37mph maximum and a price tag of £450,000, twice the cost of a regular Diesel RCV. Once you start 

loading and going up hills the range decreases significantly, during trials a full RCV would be unable to complete a 

round in one charge, drive to the Energy from Waste (ERF) at Newhaven and return, given the average daily mileage 

of any of our HGV fleet is approx. 90miles.  Note also that this is based on one trip to the tip and on some occasions, 

it can be more two trips (following Christmas, New Year and Easter holiday seasons). 

 

EV RCV’s are suitable for city councils and small boroughs, as the technology in the batteries does not currently exist 

for larger districts or like EBC where the tipping facility is out of borough. Many in the industry predict that electric 

vehicles are part of the transition to hydrogen and not a long-term transport solution in their own right.  

 

It is hoped that by 2029/30 when the RCVs will be replaced, that improvements will have been made to EV batteries 
enabling a vehicle to cover the daily range required to meet the services rounds.   

 

The smaller fleet at SEESL, mainly food collection vehicles and streets collection vehicles are suitable for the EV model, 

as range and charging capacity is not as restrictive as it is on the HGV fleet. It is recommended to invest in fully electric 

food waste vehicles in 2025 (in sync with the government mandate) once the depot has been modified followed by 
the streets fleet in 2029. 

 

Hydrogen Vehicle Option 
 

In January 2021 Europe’s truck-makers agreed to work together to help 

create the right conditions for the mass-market roll-out of hydrogen 

trucks. Iveco, Daimler, and Volvo have joined forces with energy 

companies Shell and OMV to form H2Accelerate. They say hydrogen 

will be an essential fuel for the complete decarbonisation of the sector.   

 

Julian Critchlow, director general for Energy Transformation and Clean 

Growth at the Department for Business Energy and Industrial Strategy 

(BEIS), told MPs on the Environmental Audit Committee in 2020, that the Government sees hydrogen “having a big 

role” in transport, especially for heavier vehicles. He highlighted the £23 million programme with the Office for Zero 

Emission Vehicles, which is looking at funding vehicles and refuelling stations, and the ultra-low emission bus scheme 

for hydrogen buses, along with the Prime Minister’s commitment for 4,000 new zero-emission buses. “Upgrading fleet 

and refuelling infrastructure to adopt hydrogen or battery electric technology will be very expensive and the 

Government needs to help operators absorb that cost burden,” he said.  

Daimler Truck AG revealed its fuel-cell concept truck Mercedes-Benz GenH2 Truck in September 2020. It plans to begin 

customer trials in 2023, with series production to start in the second half of the decade. In November 2020, the Volvo 

Page 25



 

Vehicle Replacement Strategy Appendix 1 

Version 1.11 - May 2022 

Page 9 

Group and Daimler Truck AG signed a binding agreement for a joint venture to develop, produce and commercialise 

fuel-cell systems. The latest unit price we have for a Hydrogen powered dustcart is £650,000. 

Aberdeen city council has unveiled the first hydrogen fuel cell refuse collection vehicle (RCV) to be put into operation 

in the UK in February 2022. The RCV will run on hydrogen created by hydrolysis at Aberdeen’s two refuelling stations 

and will begin collecting waste from around the city from early March. Manufactured and supplied to Aberdeen via 

European waste vehicle manufacturer Geesinknorba at an undisclosed cost, the RCV is one of seven which will be 

deployed across seven pilot sites in northwest Europe, including the Netherlands, France, Belgium, and Germany. The 

council says the RCV’s proposed route in Aberdeen will result in an estimated saving of more than 25kg of CO2 

equivalents per litre when compared to a diesel truck. 

Interreg North-West Europe, a programme funded by the European Commission which aims to make North-West 

Europe a “key economic player” and an “attractive place to work and live”, has part-funded Aberdeen’s purchase of 

the vehicle. The programme has provided funding for the seven RCVs across Europe as part of its Hydrogen Waste 

Collection Vehicles in North-West Europe (HECTOR) project. Each RCV will be tested in a range of environments, from 

rural areas to city centres, in an attempt to demonstrate that hydrogen waste trucks are “effective” at reducing 

emissions from road transport whilst also capable of covering the daily road-mile range. 

With the local plan for a Hydrogen facility in Newhaven, a Hydrogen powered fleet for SEESLs Refuse Service (noting 

that we will continue to tip at the Newhaven ERF as ESCC dictates this aspect of our service through their PFI with 

Veolia) might be a viable solution once the infrastructure is in place and assuming hydrogen vehicle costs reduce to 

an affordable and sustainable price point.  An alternative to this may be a “hydrogen skid” (i.e. tank at the depot) 

which would be dependent on both the viability of the Hub option and of available space at the depot noting the 
introduction of the electrical infrastructure. 

 

   

Diesel Vehicle Alternative Fuel HVO Option 
 
Hydrotreated Vegetable Oil (HVO) is a biofuel made by the hydrocracking or 

hydrogenation of vegetable oil. Hydrocracking breaks big molecules into 

smaller ones using hydrogen while hydrogenation adds hydrogen to 

molecules. These methods can be used to create substitutes for gasoline, 

diesel, propane, kerosene and other chemical feedstock. Diesel fuel created 

by Hydrotreating is called green or renewable diesel and is distinct from the 

biodiesel made through esterification. 

 

HVO Fuel suppliers claim that powering your engines and vehicles with this renewable fuel reduces greenhouse gas 

emissions by as much as 90%, NOx emissions by as much as 27% and Particle Matter emissions by as much as 84%, 

compared with conventional diesel, all which are key components in achieving improved air quality.  Because HVO fuel 

is a stable product, it doesn’t react with water so is less susceptible to bacterial attack than biodiesel. This enables it 

to have a shelf life of up to 10 years as opposed to around 1 year for mineral diesel, as long as tank cleanliness 

procedures are maintained throughout storage. 

 

 

 

Biodiesel and diesel producers face stability issues with fuel due to legislative increases in FAME content. Regular 

biodiesel (FAME) is made up of fatty acid methyl esters with varying degrees of saturation which are susceptible to 

oxidation which can cause logistical problems such as clogged filters. That’s because FAME attracts water and increases 

Page 26



 

Vehicle Replacement Strategy Appendix 1 

Version 1.11 - May 2022 

Page 10 

diesel bug attack over time, meaning these fuels must be closely monitored to avoid equipment and machinery 

breakages. HVO fuel however is produced to remove unsaturation and contaminants, leading a pure hydrocarbon fuel. 

The main disadvantage of HVO fuel is its price. Compared to Diesel its cost is 4.5% higher per litre (ref Pg13/14). Fuel 
consumption is on a par with regular diesel. 

 

We have been in conversation with Horsham District Council, who are using HVO for all their Diesel fleet, and have 
had no issues with vehicles since switching (and have the same fuel supplier as ourselves).  

 

We have also engaged with Certas (our current approved Fuel Supplier) in respect of the HVO option (as well as other 

less options, with due diligence being executed on all noting it is a very fluid marketplace in respect of both product 

and price).  We have found this dialogue to be invaluable in supporting our research into the most economically and 

environmentally viable fuel options moving forward and as a result have firmed up quarterly meeting with them to 

ensure that we remain “on pulse” with the evolution of varying fuel options. 

 

To add, we are installing a 20,000litre bunded tank in our Courtlands Depot, which will afford us financial bulk buy 

power for whatever fuel options we decide upon, which will be in addition to the premium Forecourt Prices we are 

presently having to accept through the fuel card system (i.e. in the absence of a tank). 

 

 

Fuel Costs 
 
The table below indicates the costs of the various fuel options available to 

SEESL, prices based on a fuel tank on site.  Although EV appears to be the 

lowest cost for an RCV, it is absolutely critical that each vehicle can service 

a daily round in full (sometimes including two runs to the tip) to negate the 

need to purchase additional vehicles to ensure a charged vehicle is 

available to continue to collect from the extremes of the Borough.  

 

To date there are only 2 hydrogen RCV’s in the UK and no fuel data is available currently for hydrogen.  

 

 

EV Distance per KWh in Miles Cost per KWh KWh per mile Cost Per Mile 

RCV 0.62 £0.28 2.41 £0.67 

Van 3.5 £0.28 0.29 £0.08 

     
Diesel Distance per litre in Miles Cost per litre litres per mile Cost Per Mile 

RCV 0.62 £1.77 0.96 £1.69 

Van 3.87 £1.77 0.24 £0.43 

     
HVO Distance per litre in Miles Cost per litre litres per mile Cost Per Mile 

RCV 0.62 £1.85 0.96 £1.77 

Van 3.87 £1.85 0.24 £0.45 

     
Hydrogen Distance per kg in Miles Cost per kg kg per mile Cost Per Mile 

RCV 0 £0.00 0 £0.00 

Van 0 £0.00 0 £0.00 

 

 

Page 27



 

Vehicle Replacement Strategy Appendix 1 

Version 1.11 - May 2022 

Page 11 

Bridging the Gap – In order of our recommendation 
 
As the Current SEESL HGV Collection fleet is nearing its economical best, 

there is an urgent requirement to replace by “reusing” existing chassis, 
replacing the bodies in order to safeguard the service delivery to 2029. 

 

The EV Battery technology does not currently exist for it to be a viable 

option for the SEESL HGV fleet, due to a range of issues, cost, and 

infrastructure at the Courtlands Road Depot. To add, Hydrogen fuelled 

vehicle infrastructure and price are prohibitive factors at this time.  SEESL is undertaking trials of new fleet 

specifications as a matter of course as part of our due diligence in advance of procuring the optimum solution in line 

with the prescribed 10year timeline, where we have full use of the vehicle for a minimum of one week, thereby 

ensuring all staff have a first-hand opportunity to work with these vehicles on collection rounds across the Borough. 

 

However, as the marketplace continues to evolve and with it the understanding of associated infrastructural 

requirements, either of these options could become viable solutions from circa 2027/28.  This therefore presently 

leaves us with two fuel sources, HVO or Diesel, and three options to acquire vehicles to bridge the gap shown below. 

 

Whilst these options are solely related to collection vehicles (due to them being the greatest capital cost consideration 

and not as advanced in the marketplace in respect of alternative fuel types), all other fleet requirements are included 

in the (capital/fuel/carbon) “Figures” section and associated tables further down, namely: Food Waste, Street 

Cleansing (including Mechanical Sweepers), Bulky Waste collections, Bin Deliveries and Supervisory vehicles.  

 

 

Bridging the Gap Options 
 

Option 1 - Reuse of existing fleet – “Preferred” 
 
For most of the current SEESL HGV collection fleet, the chassis could be 

cleaned up and re-bodied offering a cheap solution to extend the life of 

the vehicle for 5 years, from 2024 to 2029. We estimate that possibly 12 

of the 15 required can be re-used. For those of the fleet where this is not 

viable the purchase of used chassis and re-bodied is also a cheaper option 

than new.  The estimated cost per vehicle of doing this is £100,000 for the 

chassis we keep and £120,000 to include the cost of a second-hand chassis (from auction). Interim vehicle cover would 

need to be in place to enable us to release 3 vehicles at a time where they are to be rebodied (noting rebodying them 

takes approx. 12weeks), estimated cost £168k.   

 

This is the cheapest capital expense option, and the preferred option for the officers.   

 

Option 2 - Brand New Fleet 
The second option we have is to replace the existing fleet with a brand-

new fleet and depreciate this over 6 years instead of 10 in order to move 

to ZERO tailpipe emissions before 2030. This is a more expensive option 

than the Reuse/Re-Body option above, although there is potential for a 

residual value in 2029 after the 6 years are up – however, this is high risk 

as such is not guaranteed as we cannot predict the marketplace for 

diesel engines in 2029. There is also the option that hydrogen chassis 

conversions will be available by 2029 and we can convert the new diesel chassis to hydrogen, but again we cannot 

guarantee this a certainty. The cost of a brand-new Diesel vehicle currently stands at £210,000 per vehicle. 

Page 28



 

Vehicle Replacement Strategy Appendix 1 

Version 1.11 - May 2022 

Page 12 

 

Option 3 - Leased Fleet 

 

The third option is to lease a fleet until 2029, eliminating the need for capital 

outlay. We have received quotes for this option. The cost per vehicle is £3,688 

per month. The cost for this option is £265,000 per vehicle for the 72 months 

(vs £100,000/£120,000 for the rebodied option, plus HVO), making this option 
the most expensive.   

 

 

Any one of these options will “Bridge the Gap” allowing time for the new determined alternative fuel station 

infrastructure at Courtlands Road as well as realising the outcomes of the Environment bill and how that will shape 

the collections for the next ten years.  

 

It will also allow the Newhaven hydrogen hub to become established from where we could potentially source our daily 

fuel stock requirements for our Refuse Service fleet and for SEESL to assess the ULE vehicle market further to ensure 

the vehicle selections are fit for the purpose of collecting waste with very little emissions. 

 

Figures 
Capital Costs 

The table below details the capital costs SEESL will need to make available, 
dependant on the collection and Gap option selected. 

 

The capital cost figures are based on quotes from suppliers see Appendix 2a 

and Appendix 2b. 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Predicted Fuel Usage 

 

£0.00

£2,000,000.00

£4,000,000.00

£6,000,000.00

£8,000,000.00

£10,000,000.00

£12,000,000.00

£14,000,000.00

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30

Capital Costs £

Option 1 Option 2

Page 29



 

Vehicle Replacement Strategy Appendix 1 

Version 1.11 - May 2022 

Page 13 

The table below details the predicted fuel usage in litres for the next 10 years. 

The figures are based on 2021 consumption by round, for full details see 

Appendix 2c 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Predicted Fuel Costs Diesel 
 

The table below details the predicted fuel costs for the next 8 years. 

The figures are based on 2021 consumption and a unit price of £1.40 per litre by 

round (which is based on the move from the current Fuel Card Service Station 

approach to our own depot-based tank), see Appendix 2d 

 

 

 

 

0.00

50,000.00

100,000.00

150,000.00

200,000.00

250,000.00

300,000.00

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30

Fuel Useage Litres

Weekly Used Weekly New

£0.00

£100,000.00

£200,000.00

£300,000.00

£400,000.00

£500,000.00

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30

Diesel Cost @ £1.77 litre

Weekly Used Weekly New

Page 30



 

Vehicle Replacement Strategy Appendix 1 

Version 1.11 - May 2022 

Page 14 

Predicted Fuel Costs HVO 
The table and chart below detail the predicted fuel costs should HVO be used 

instead of regular diesel for the next 8 years (commencing April 2023). 

 
The figures are based on 2021 consumption and a unit price of £1.95 per litre by 

round, see Appendix 2e 

 

 

 
 

Predicted Carbon Emissions Diesel 
The table and chart below detail the predicted carbon emissions based on diesel 

fuel emissions for the next 8 years.  The figures are based on 2021 consumption 

and conversion figures of 1.239 per mile for diesel and 0.276 (Data compiled 

from LGA carbon accounting tool) for Electric, see Appendix 2f 

 
 

 

 
 

£0.00

£50,000.00

£100,000.00

£150,000.00

£200,000.00

£250,000.00

£300,000.00

£350,000.00

£400,000.00

£450,000.00

£500,000.00

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30

HVO Cost @ £1.85 litre

Weekly Used Weekly New

0.00

100.00

200.00

300.00

400.00

500.00

600.00

700.00

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30

Diesel Co2 Emissions (tonnes)

Weekly Used Weekly New

Page 31



 

Vehicle Replacement Strategy Appendix 1 

Version 1.11 - May 2022 

Page 15 

Predicted Carbon Emissions HVO 
The table and chart below detail the predicted carbon emissions based on HVO 

fuel emissions for the next 8 years.  The figures are based on 2021 consumption 

and conversion figures of 0.7434 per mile for HVO and 0.276 for Electric (Data 

compiled from LGA carbon accounting tool), see Appendix 2g 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Summary 
 

0.00

50.00

100.00

150.00

200.00

250.00

300.00

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30

HVO Emissions (tonnes)

Weekly Used Weekly New

Page 32



 

Vehicle Replacement Strategy Appendix 1 

Version 1.11 - May 2022 

Page 16 

Recommendation 

 

We propose a hybrid of Diesel/HVO (for collections) and EV Fleet (for Food Waste) for the fleet replacement plan for 

the 2024 to 2029 service period (ref Bridging the Gap Options above) and as new technologies and alternative fuel 

options such as Hydrogen and Electric become economically viable as well as the provision of a depot infrastructure 

that can support our fleet, then we will switch out before 2030 to this technology to help achieve the council’s target 

of Carbon Neutral by 2030. 

 

Procurement Timeline by Vehicle Type and Year 

 23/24 – Rebody of existing RCV collection fleet (using alternative diesel) 

 25/26 – Food Waste (EV) and Mechanical Sweepers (EV) 

 29/30 – RCV collection fleet and Street Cleansing Fleet (EV/HV) 

 

What’s in ours/members control 

• Right interim fleet choices in advance of the Carbon Neutral 2030 target 
• Best use of council monies over the above timeline with the Recover and Reset background 

 

What’s NOT ours/members control 

• Technological developments to meet our service needs and targets – marketplace dependent 
• Depot fuel infrastructure, namely whether a Hydrogen Hub and/or UKPN electric supply 
• Future costs of ULE fleet and costs of alternative fuels 
• Global shortage of microchip (i.e., the brain of the engine) 

 

 

Headline Opportunities  

• Supporting EBCs Carbon Neutral 2030 target 
• Having a dedicated Food Waste that seeks to optimise participation 
• All the above will support the councils overarching Waste Reduction Strategy 
• New fleet will positively impact on morale 

 

Headline Risks 

 

• TIME -   
– delays in the decision-making process at SEESL Board and Cabinet level 
– delays in the above impacting on speed of executing tender process 
– delays in the above impacting on placing our orders 

 

• Missing “slots” on the successful supplier(s) fleet production line 
• Supply of alternative fuels (HVO) against the ongoing conflict in Ukraine 
• Running existing fleet beyond April 2024 – this is NOT an option! 
• Cost limitations to ULE EV/HV fleet and to alternative fuel (HVO) 
• Cost limitations to alternative fuel (HVO) 
• Viability of EV Infrastructure at Courtlands Depot 
• Viability of Hydrogen supply via Newhaven Hub or skid at Courtlands Depot 
• Covid (or similar) if the world stops ….. again! 
• Not choosing the recommended Option 1 for reasons contained within this paper. 

 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Vehicle Replacement Strategy – Appendix 2 

Version 1.11 - May 2022 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Sean Towey, Head of Environment 

First 

Jane Goodall, Environment Lead 

Walter Ferguson, SEESL Service 

Manager  

Theresa Owen, Accountant 

Appendix 2 
Vehicle Replacement 

Strategy 
May 2022  

Page 35



Vehicle Replacement Strategy – Appendix 2 

Version 1.11 - May 2022 

 

Report Page 12 – 2a 

Spend Description   

Re-Body + 1 
EV Tail Lift 

7.5t 
  

Food Waste+  
Mech 

Sweepers 
(EV) 

      

RCV Fleet + 
Street 

Cleansing 
(EV/HV)   

Capital Costs £ 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 8 Year Total 

Option 1 £0.00 £2,020,000.00 £0.00 £2,750,000.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £12,010,000.00 £16,780,000.00 

Option 2 £0.00 £3,335,000.00 £0.00 £2,750,000.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £12,010,000.00 £18,095,000.00 

 

 

 

P
age 36



 

Vehicle Replacement Strategy – Appendix 2 

Version 1.11 - May 2022 

Report Page 12 – 2b 

 

Crew Reg Service Vehicle Size 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30

REF 1 GK13EOL Refuse 1 26t split lift £120,000.00 £650,000.00

REF 2 GK13EOP Refuse 2 26t split lift £120,000.00 £650,000.00

REF 3 GK13EOY Refuse 3 26t split lift £120,000.00 £650,000.00

REF 4 GK13EOR Refuse 4 26t split lift £120,000.00 £650,000.00

REF 5 GK13EOU Refuse 5 26t Euro Lift £120,000.00 £650,000.00

REF 6 (SP) GK13EPA Refuse 6 (SP) 26t Split lift £120,000.00 £650,000.00

REF 7 (NA) RK19ONC Refuse 7 (N/A) 16t split lift £550,000.00

REF Service GK13EOO Service Cover 26t split lift £120,000.00 £650,000.00

REF Service New Service Cover 16t Split lift £120,000.00 £550,000.00

REC 1 GK13EOV Recycle 26t split lift £120,000.00 £650,000.00

REC 2 GK13EOX Recycle 26t split lift £120,000.00 £650,000.00

REC 3 GK13EOM Recycle 26t split lift £120,000.00 £650,000.00

REC 4 GK13EOZ Recycle 26t split lift £120,000.00 £650,000.00

REC 5 (NA) RK19OMZ Recycle N/A 16t Split lift £550,000.00

REC Service GK13EOS Service Cover 26t split lift £120,000.00 £650,000.00

GAR 1 GK13EPD Garden 26t split lift £120,000.00 £650,000.00

GAR 2 GK13EPF Garden 26t split lift £120,000.00 £650,000.00

FOD 1 New Food 7.5t Food Tipper £220,000.00

FOD 2 New Food 7.5t Food Tipper £220,000.00

FOD 3 New Food 7.5t Food Tipper £220,000.00

FOD 4 New Food 7.5t Food Tipper £220,000.00

FOD Service New Service Cover 7.5t Food Tipper £220,000.00

North EU19NBB Streets 3.5t Tipper £100,000.00

South EU19NBA Streets 3.5t Tipper £100,000.00

East EU19MZY Streets 3.5t Tipper £100,000.00

West EU19NAO Streets 3.5t Tipper £100,000.00

Litter N EU19MZZ Streets 3.5t Tipper £100,000.00

Litter S EU19NAA Streets 3.5t Tipper £100,000.00

Downland EU19NAE Streets 3.5t Tipper £100,000.00

EPA EU19NBE Streets 3.5t Tipper £100,000.00

Mech1 RY19FXO Mech 15t Sweeper £500,000.00

Mech2 GD19LGY Mech 15t Sweeper £500,000.00

Mech3 GD19LGX Mech 4.2t Sweeper £250,000.00

Mech4 RY19FYO Mech 4.2t Sweeper £250,000.00

Mech5 GL68MYZ Mech 2.4t sweeper £150,000.00

BIN DELIVERY EU19NDC Other 7.5t Tail lift Tipper £220,000.00

BULK - REF 9 ML13YNX Other Luton Van Tail lift £220,000.00

W FERGUSON EN68GZA Other Small van £40,000.00

R WESTGATE EN68GYD Other Small van £40,000.00

M HOBBS EN68GYU Other Small van £40,000.00

R SARGEANT GV06JXA Other Small van £40,000.00

M BOLTON TBA Other EV Van £40,000.00

WORKSHOP HW69KVT W/Shop Transit Van £40,000.00

Annual Totals £0.00 £2,020,000.00 £0.00 £2,750,000.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £12,010,000.00

P
age 37



 

Vehicle Replacement Strategy – Appendix 2 

Version 1.11 - May 2022 

Report Page 13 – 2c 

Fuel Usage Litres 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 8 Year Total 

Weekly Used 251,328.48 251,328.48 251,328.48 251,328.48 222,454.18 222,454.18 222,454.18 0.00 1,672,676.46 

Weekly New 251,328.48 251,328.48 251,328.48 251,328.48 222,454.18 222,454.18 222,454.18 0.00 1,672,676.46 

 

Report Page 13 – 2d 

Diesel Cost @ 1.77 litre 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 8 Year Total 

Weekly Used £444,851.41 £444,851.41 £444,851.41 £444,851.41 £444,851.41 £444,851.41 £444,851.41 £0.00 £3,113,959.87 

Weekly New £444,851.41 £444,851.41 £444,851.41 £444,851.41 £444,851.41 £444,851.41 £444,851.41 £0.00 £3,113,959.87 

 

Report Page 14 – 2e 

HVO Cost @ 1.85 litre 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 8 Year Total 

Weekly Used £464,957.69 £464,957.69 £464,957.69 £464,957.69 £464,957.69 £464,957.69 £464,957.69 £0.00 £3,254,703.82 

Weekly New £464,957.69 £464,957.69 £464,957.69 £464,957.69 £464,957.69 £464,957.69 £464,957.69 £0.00 £3,254,703.82 

 

Report Page 15 – 2f 

Co2 Emissions (tonnes) 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 8 Year Total 

Weekly Used 631.44 631.44 633.94 633.94 563.40 563.40 563.40 26.69 4,247.67 

Weekly New 631.44 631.44 633.94 633.94 563.40 563.40 563.40 26.69 4,247.67 

 

 

Report Page 15 – 2g 

Co2 Emissions 
(HVO)(tonnes) 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 8 Year Total 

Weekly Used  252.58 252.58 253.58 253.58 225.36 225.36 225.36 10.68 £1,699.07 

Weekly New  252.58 252.58 253.58 253.58 225.36 225.36 225.36 10.68 £1,699.07 

 

P
age 38



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

South East Environmental Services Limited 

Registered Office: Town Hall, Grove Road, Eastbourne, East Sussex BN21 4UG 

(Registered Company No.11545729 - England and Wales) 

 

 

Department name here 

my ref: SEESL/JD/JMP  

your ref: Type ref here  

date: 16th May 2022 
 

 
 
  
 
 

Dear Cabinet Members 

 

Vehicle Replacement Strategy  

 

Following the meeting of the Board this afternoon, I am writing to confirm that the Board 

recommends the Vehicle Replacement Strategy to Cabinet for approval. 

 

We believe as a Board, it sets out: 

✓ To reduce our carbon emissions 

✓ To provide flexibility 

✓ To benefit the environment 

✓ To reduce borrowing 

 

In summary we believe the strategy enables us to keep our options open whilst trading through 
extremely changeable conditions. SEESL is required to be agile, commercial and 
environmentally conscious, whilst at the same time delivering exceptional standards to our 
residents.  
 
Signed: 

 
 

J Dow 

Chair 

On behalf of the Board of South East Environmental Services Ltd 

 

Eastbourne Borough Council Cabinet  

Appendix 3

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 41

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 21 March 2022
	7 Waste and recycling services - fleet
	Waste and recycling services - fleet - Appendix 1
	Waste and recycling services - fleet - Appendix 2
	Waste and recycling services - fleet - Appendix 3

	9 Waste and recycling services - fleet - Exempt Appendix 4



